**PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

In referring to the record on appeal, the following symbols will be used:

- (R) Consisting of Volumes I through VI; Pages 1-960  
consisting of various pleadings and pretrial hearings.
- (T) Consisting of Volumes VII through XVII; Pages 1-1597  
consisting of Appellant's jury trial and penalty phase.
- (SR) Consisting of the one volume supplemental record on  
appeal; Pages 1-43; consisting of three hearings and some  
pleadings.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 10, 1994, the State of Florida indicted Loran Cole, Appellant, and William "Chris" Paul, for the first-degree murder of John Edwards. The State also charged both Cole and Paul with two counts of armed kidnaping, two counts of armed sexual battery, and two counts of robbery with a deadly weapon. (R104-107) The trial court appointed the Office of the Public Defender to represent the indigent Loran Cole. (R111)

On April 13, 1994, the Office of the Public Defender filed a motion to withdraw as counsel citing an irreconcilable conflict of interest. (R159-60) On April 18, 1994, following a hearing (R1-13), the trial court granted the motion and appointed private counsel to represent Loran Cole. (R163-64,169)

On December 13, 1994, Loran Cole filed a *pro se* motion to dismiss counsel. (R208) At a December 29, 1994, hearing, Appellant subsequently withdrew his *pro se* motion to discharge counsel. (R220-32)

The trial court eventually granted Appellant's motion to sever his case from his codefendant, William Paul. (R18,276-77) On April 19, 1995, the State filed notice of their intent to seek habitual felony offender status in Appellant's case. (R313) On February 24, 1995, the trial court held a hearing on Appellant's motion to sever and his motion for continuance. (R327-56) The Appellant was not present at this hearing and the State expressed some concern. (R329) The trial court granted the motion for continuance. (R347) The trial court heard brief argument on the motion to sever and accepted case law submitted by counsel. (R348-56) The trial court delayed further argument until the Appellant could be present. On

March 1, 1995, the hearing on Appellant's motion to sever continued. (R357-381) The trial court took the motion under advisement and ultimately granted the motion on May 7, 1995. (R15,376)

On June 5, 1995, Appellant moved to continue the trial. (R416-19) On June 19, 1995, Appellant moved for closure of all pretrial proceedings. (R432-33) Appellant also moved for transcripts of the grand jury proceedings. (R434-41) Appellant also moved to compel the State to disclose evidence of mitigating circumstances. (R450-53) Appellant moved for a pretrial hearing to determine the admissibility of photographs. (R454-55,460-61)

Appellant also filed numerous pretrial motions dealing with the capital sentencing procedure. These included a motion to prohibit any reference to the advisory role of the jury (R456-57); a motion to elect and justify aggravating circumstances (R458-59); a motion to compel the State to furnish a penalty phase witness list (R468-69); a motion for statement of particulars regarding aggravating circumstances, theory of prosecution, and reasons that the State sought the death penalty (R470-75); several motions to declare certain provisions of Section 921.141, Florida Statutes, unconstitutional as applied (R605-10) {921.141(5)(a)}, {921.141(5)(f) (R611-15)}; {921.141(5)(c) (R616-20)}, {921.141(5)(b) (R621-26)}; {921.141(5)(h) (R629-42)}; {921.141(5)(g) (R643-47)}; {921.141(5)(i) (R648-61)}; {921.141(5)(d) (R664-69)}; {921.141(5)(e) (R676-84)}. Appellant also attacked the constitutionality of the statute based on the fact that a bare majority of the jury is sufficient to recommend death (R627-28); the failure to provide the jury with adequate guidance at the penalty phase (R662-63); the burden of proof or persuasion regarding mitigating circumstances (R670-75); and the restricted consideration of mitigating evidence (R685-88).

Appellant also filed a motion for change of venue accompanied by an memorandum of law. (R692-706) The trial court deferred ruling until a jury was selected, then denied the motion. (T7-10,409)

The trial court denied Appellant's motion to sever the murder charge from the other six counts. (R717-23;T21-25) The court also denied Cole's motion to sever the two counts of sexual battery. (T25-26)

Appellant moved to suppress evidence which was the result of a warrantless seizure following his arrest. (R724-25) Following a hearing, the trial court denied the motion. (T437-94) The State introduced the evidence at trial over Appellant's renewed objections. (T123-24,937,957-61,972-76)

A jury was selected, and the trial court denied Appellant's renewed motion for change of venue. (T409) During the trial, the court conducted several bench conferences outside the courtroom, in the hallway, without Appellant's presence. See, e.g., (T870-74,889-92,968-72, 1063-66) During the testimony of Mary Gamble, Appellant moved for mistrial which the court denied. (T889-92) Appellant unsuccessfully objected to the introduction of certain photographs at trial as well as a walking stick. (T723-39,752-56,1201-5) At the close of all of the evidence, the trial court denied Appellant's motion for judgment of acquittal. (T1194-96) The trial court denied two specially requested instructions. (T1214-23) Following deliberations, the jury returned with verdicts of guilty as charged on all seven counts. (R763-69)

The trial court overruled Appellant's objection and allowed the State to present victim impact evidence. (T1325-27,1333-38) Appellant presented several witnesses at the penalty

phase. The trial court denied many of Appellant's special requested jury instructions.

(T1512-43;SR30-41)

During deliberations at the penalty phase, the jury asked several questions. (R789-92) Over Appellant's objection, the trial court re-read a portion of the victim's testimony at the jury's request. (T1574-92) Ultimately, the jury recommended death. (R793) On October 9, 1995, Appellant filed a motion for new trial. (R800-1) Appellant's memorandum in support of life. (R870-76) State's memo in support of death. (R881-88) PSI. (R889-912)

In sentencing Loran Cole to death, the trial court filed written findings of fact on December 20, 1995. (R913-22) The trial court concluded that the State proved four aggravating circumstances: (1) that Appellant had previously been convicted of another capital felony;<sup>1</sup> (2) that the murder was committed during the commission of a kidnaping;<sup>2</sup> (3) that the murder was committed for pecuniary gain;<sup>3</sup> and (4) that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel.<sup>4</sup> (R913-17) The trial court concluded that none of the statutory mitigating circumstances applied. (R917-18) The trial court discussed three categories of nonstatutory mitigation. (R918-21) The court rejected Appellant's contention that the codefendant received disparate treatment. (R918-19) The trial court did find that Appellant suffered from organic brain damage and mental illness. (R919-20) However, the trial court concluded that Appellant's evidence failed to establish that his judgment was impaired in any significant

---

<sup>1</sup> §921.141(5)(b), Fla. Stat.

<sup>2</sup> §921.141(5)(d), Fla. Stat.

<sup>3</sup> §921.141(5)(f), Fla. Stat.

<sup>4</sup> §921.141(5)(h), Fla. Stat.

manner. Therefore, the trial court attached only slight to moderate weight to this mitigating factor. (R919-20) The trial court also found that Loran Cole was raised in a difficult and disruptive household. The court gave this mitigating factor only slight weight due to the absence of evidence that Appellant was physically or sexually abused as a child or that his deprived childhood substantially affected his adult behavior. (R920-21) The trial court ultimately concluded that the aggravating factors outweighed the mitigating circumstances and sentenced Loran Cole to die in Florida's electric chair. (R921-22,928-32) The trial court sentenced Cole to six life sentences on each of the noncapital convictions. (R933-38) The trial court justified the departure sentences based on the unscored capital conviction. (R926-27) The written sentences reflect the imposition of the twenty-five year minimum mandatory to each of the six sentences. The court ordered the six concurrent life sentences to run consecutive to the death sentence. (R940) The trial court ordered Appellant to pay cost of restitution which included funeral expenses, counseling expenses, car repair, and transportation for the victim's parents from Japan. (R923-25)

On January 19, 1996, Appellant filed a notice of appeal. (R941-42) This Court has jurisdiction.<sup>5</sup>

---

<sup>5</sup> Art. V, §3(b)(1), Fla. Const.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

### **Guilt/Innocence Phase**

In February of 1994, Pam Edwards, an Eckerd College student, arranged to meet her brother, John Edwards, a Florida State University student, for a camping trip in the Ocala National Forest. On Friday, February 18, Pam drove up from St. Petersburg and John drove down from Tallahassee to meet in Ocala. Both then drove into the forest to Hopkins Prairie, picked a campsite, and began making camp. (T1092-1102) As they were attempting to pitch their tent, the Appellant, Loran Cole,<sup>6</sup> walked by their campsite carrying a camera with a large lens. Cole indicated that he was on his way to take some photographs and the three chatted. (T1102) Cole left to take photographs, but subsequently returned to the Edwards' campsite and helped them put up the tent. Cole then went to his own campsite and returned with a hatchet and demonstrated how to cut firewood. (T1102-3)

The Edwards made a fire, cooked, and ate dinner. (T1104-6) As they were finishing dinner, Cole and another man walked by the Edwards' campsite saying they were going to look at an alligator pond. (T1106) Cole later returned to the Edwards' campsite and introduced his friend William "Chris" Paul, as "Kurt." (T1107) Paul carried a large walking stick and wore a camouflaged jacket and hat with jeans. (T1107-8) Cole wore a black and blue checkered flannel shirt with a camouflaged jacket and hat with black pants. (T1108) The

---

<sup>6</sup> The Edwards knew Appellant, Loran Cole, as both "K.C." and "Kevin." They knew the codefendant, William "Chris" Paul, as "Kurt" and later as "Chris." To avoid confusion, counsel will try to refer to Cole and Paul by their legal names.

four of them talked while sitting around the campfire.<sup>7</sup> Cole said that he had been camping in the area for quite some time. (T1108-11) He revealed that they were planning to stay through the weekend. (T1111-12) The Edwards explained that they were there to do some hiking. Cole claimed that he knew the trails in the area very well and they planned to hike together the next day. (T1112)

That evening the four of them decided to go to take some night pictures of the gators. Cole went to get his camera and John Edwards got his own out of the car. (T1112-13) Cole carried a large flashlight, Pam carried a small Maglite, and John carried a small rubberized flashlight. Pam could not recall whether Paul carried a flashlight or not. (T1114-15) As the four of them walked down the dark trail, Pam became concerned when Cole sometimes called "Kurt" (Paul) by the name of "Chris." She also found it peculiar that Paul lit up a cigarette.<sup>8</sup> (T1115-17) Pam also thought it odd that Paul started carrying his walking stick up on his shoulder. (T1119)

The group never found the crocodile pond. Pam and John Edwards disagreed with the two men about the proper return route to the campsite. (T1119-21) As Pam and John turned back toward the right trail, Cole jumped on Pam, wrapped his arm around her neck, and pulled her to the ground. Pam screamed for her brother, as Cole remained on top of her holding her down. She looked up and saw her brother wielding Paul's walking stick. John was apparently striking Paul. (T1121-22)

---

<sup>7</sup> Pam noticed that Paul used a large knife to roast marshmallows. (T1188)

<sup>8</sup> Previously, both Cole and Paul claimed to be environmental and health conscious and decried smoking. (T1117-18)

Pam extracted herself from Cole's grasp and began running down the dark trail. Suddenly, something hit Pam in the back of the head. Cole then handcuffed her from behind and threw her on the ground. (T1122-24) He warned Pam, "if you move, you'll get shot." (T1124) Cole eventually went back down the trail and subdued John while Paul stayed with Pam. Paul had injured his hand during the physical confrontation with John. (T1124-26) Pam and John eventually ended up on their stomachs side by side on the ground. Cole and Paul told the pair that they wanted their cars so they could get out of state.

Cole took Pam's \$20.00 from her pocket. The men also took much of the Edwards' jewelry. John and Pam were able to converse briefly before Cole took Pam up the trail while Paul remained behind with John. Paul complained to Pam that his head and hand hurt. Cole and Paul had both expressed anger that John had injured Paul. However, Paul reassured Pam that they would be okay if they cooperated. (T1125-29,1189-90)

Although Pam could not see her brother and Cole, she heard John grunt a few times before Cole rejoined Paul and Pam. (T1129) Cole announced that they were going to remain until John passed out. He called out to John a few times and Pam heard John moaning. After John became quiet, Cole went back to check on John. Cole announced that he was going to move John off the trail and tie him up.<sup>9</sup> Pam heard gagging sounds and Cole implied that John was vomiting. (T1129-30)

The men then took Pam Edwards back to her campsite. They got lost in the woods for

---

<sup>9</sup> Before returning to tie up John, Cole escorted Pam out of sight, off the trail to use the bathroom. Paul remained on the trail in John's vicinity. When Pam returned a few minutes later, Paul was in the same spot and posture as when they left. (T1190-93)

a short while and, in the process, walked by John a couple of times. Pam could see that his feet were tied behind him and that he was not moving. (T1131-32) On the return trip to the campsite, the trio avoided a group of boy scouts as well as a van driving on the road. The men warned Pam to remain quiet when people were nearby. (T1132-33) Pam did not remember Paul carrying his walking stick back to the campsite. (T1148)

After returning to the Edwards' campsite, Pam thought about crying out to other campers who were nearby. She refrained because Cole had warned her that they would do further damage to her brother. Cole explained that they had done something to John's neck so that he would be paralyzed for a couple of hours but otherwise would be fine. Cole had also informed Pam that she would have to sleep naked so that she would not escape from the tent. (T1134-36) Cole moved Pam's handcuffs to the front so that she could drink some water. Cole got Pam's purple backpack out of her car and the trio walked five minutes to the men's nearby campsite. Cole tended to the cut on the back of Paul's head. The trio then got into the men's tent. The men made Pam take off her clothes but provided her a blanket. Cole then coerced Pam into an act of sexual intercourse. (T1136-41) Pam decided not to resist. (T1141) Paul and Cole then fell asleep until morning. Pam stayed awake all night and considered various plans for escape. (T1141-44) She remained cautious based on her fear for John's safety as well as her own. She had seen Cole with a knife, and the men also claimed to have guns. (T1143-44)

The next morning, the trio ate breakfast, before Cole left the campsite at approximately 8:30 a.m. He asserted that he was going to check on John. (T1144-46) Cole returned an hour or so later claiming that John had tried to wander away. Pam expressed concern, but

Cole reassured her. (T1146-47) Later that morning, Cole left the campsite again and returned in the afternoon with some toiletries and a bag of marijuana.<sup>10</sup> (T1147-49) Cole removed Pam's handcuffs and left them off the remainder of the weekend. (T1170) Pam and the two men smoked the marijuana.<sup>11</sup> (T1186-87) Pam, who had smoked pot before, over-indulged, became confused, and began hallucinating. (T1149-50,1187) Cole put on a condom and had sexual intercourse with Pam. He explained that he wanted to use a condom so there would be no evidence. (T1150-52) After the sexual act, Pam Edwards lost consciousness. (T1152) Later in the day, Cole left the tent and made dinner. (T1154-55) Pam heard other campers nearby but Cole warned her to be quiet. (T1155)

After eating dinner, the trio broke camp and walked with backpacks across the prairie. They eventually reached Pam's car parked by the road. (T1155-57) The men then took Pam into the woods and tied her to two trees. Using a bandana, they fashioned a loose gag in her mouth. (T1158-59) Saying that they would return, the men left the area. (T1159) Pam slept for the next several hours. She also managed to gnaw through most of her bindings, and by midnight she was free. Still concerned about John's well-being, she remained at that spot until daylight. (T1160-61) At first light on Sunday morning, Pam walked down the road until she was able to find the campground. She looked for her brother but was unable to locate him. (T1161-63) She eventually returned to the road where she flagged down a motorist and

---

<sup>10</sup> Pam noticed many empty beer cans at the men's campsite. (T1186)

<sup>11</sup> Paul asked Pam to roll the joint, but she said she lacked that skill. (T1187)

explained her plight. He took her to a convenience store where she called the authorities.<sup>12</sup>  
(T555-67,1163-64)

The authorities took Pam Edwards back to the crime scene where she described what happened and they gathered evidence. (T583-635,653-58,673-98) They eventually located John Edwards' body. (T658-72) Dr. Janet Pillow, the medical examiner established the cause of death as blunt head trauma and a cut throat. (T748) There were at least three separate blows to the victim's head. (T744-45) Dr. Pillow concluded that Edwards remained alive less than thirty seconds after his throat was cut. (T747-48,757-58) Dr. Pillow had no way to determine whether Edwards was conscious at the infliction of any of the wounds. (T757)

The State also presented several witnesses who became acquaintances of both Cole and Paul in the months before the murder. The group met while all were living at the Salvation Army in Ocala. They included John Thomson, Danielle Zimmerman, and Mary Gamble. Zimmerman, Gamble, and Thomson lived with several children in a mobile home they rented in January, 1994, in the Ocala National Forest. (T801-8) After the murder, Cole and Paul turned up Saturday night at their friends' trailer. (T815-16) Paul explained his injuries by claiming that four men jumped them in the forest. (T815-16) During their weekend stay at the trailer, Cole and Paul drove a Nissan Sentra (Pam Edwards' car) until they wrecked it. They returned a few hours later driving a blue Geo (John Edwards' car). (T818-25) Cole and Paul left some of the Edwards' property at the trailer when they left the next day. The

---

<sup>12</sup> The motorist and a female Lake County deputy were the first people that Pam came into contact with after her ordeal. Although there was some confusion about the matter, initial reports were that both Cole and Paul had raped her. (T567-83) At trial, the evidence indicated that Cole was the only one who had any sexual contact with Pam. (T1170-71)

property included a Coleman cooler, a bicycle rack, a flashlight, and other camping gear. (T819-22,854-55,860-61) The pair also had a pouch with several items of jewelry. During the weekend, all the adults drank much beer and smoked some marijuana. (T863-65) Their friends also confirmed that the pair carried knives and Cole occasionally carried handcuffs. (T813,877-79) Cole and Paul left the trailer on Sunday afternoon and never returned. Their friends saw on the news the next day that the pair had been arrested. (T895) After their arrest, Mary Gamble (Cole's jilted girlfriend) visited him in the jail several times. During one of those visits, Cole responded to Gamble's question and admitted that he raped Pam Edwards. She also asked him who had actually killed John Edwards. "He said he didn't know actually which one had actually done it, but he was the one that slit the throat." (T896-900) Gamble claimed that Cole told her that he did not kill Pam Edwards because he had "more sympathy for women."<sup>13</sup> (T900)

#### **Penalty Phase<sup>14</sup>**

Ann Cole, Appellant's mother refused to appear at the proceeding that would ultimately determine whether her own son lived or died. (T1357-59) The trial judge offered to have Ms. Cole arrested, but Loran Cole declined the offer. Appellant's father, Don Cole, described the household into which Loran was born as "miserable." (T1390-91) When Loran was born, he joined three half-sisters in the Cole household. (T1392) All four children were the product of

---

<sup>13</sup> Gamble admitted that she and Cole once had a romantic entanglement that Cole chose to end. She was extremely bitter toward Cole and had expressed her hatred of him. (T903-4)

<sup>14</sup> The State presented no evidence of aggravating circumstances at the penalty phase. The State did present some devastating "victim impact" evidence. (T1333-46)

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