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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

I. The trial court did not abuse its broad discretion in allowing portions of the testimony of Pamela Edwards to be re-read to the jury upon request, without accompanying cross-examination,

since there was no cross-examination on that testimony. The testimony read to the jury was responsive to the jury's request and was not misleading. Counsel failed to object to the reading of further testimony or request that further cross-examination be included. Thus, this new claim, raised on appeal, is waived.

II. The trial court did not err by conducting portions of the trial in the absence of the appellant. Appellant was present at the status conference when the motion to sever, in which he joined, was entertained and granted. The cases having been severed, the appellant had no right to be present for the co-defendant's separate motion to be moved to another jail. Appellant's possible absences from non-critical status and bench conferences did not frustrate the fairness of the proceedings where he was represented by his attorney. Further, any error was harmless. *Hardwick v. Dugger*, 648 So.2d 100 (Fla. 1994). Should error be found of the harmful variety, remand would be appropriate to determine from what hearings the appellant was absent, particularly since the appellant's claims that he was not present are speculative in many instances.

III. The testimony of the victim's former teacher came within the parameters of the decision in *Payne v. Tennessee*, 501 U.S. 808 (1991) and was permissible under F.S. § 921.141(7) as it

demonstrated the uniqueness of John Edwards as an individual. Appellant's argument that the teacher's brief reference to a nation with problems implies that the victim would have solved this country's racial problems or that his loss was nationwide is a far-stretch of the imagination.

IV.(A) The heinousness factor is properly applied where victims have been beaten to death or have drowned in their own blood after a stab wound. The victim in this case not only had his head bashed in, but had his throat slit and suffered air hunger. The sequence of events leading up to these savage assaults, which included binding the victim and rendering him helpless, caused the victim substantial mental anguish, which the appellant relished. The victim was conscious after the blows to his head. Appellant even indicated that he was waiting for him to pass out. He was still conscious for the final *coup de grâce*, a slash to the throat. Indeed, a nick near the gaping wound reveals an attempt to avoid the infliction of the wound. John Edwards had more than a clue that he would be killed. He had already been violently attacked, he knew he was the victim of a robbery, he had been subdued and rendered helpless, and he apologized to his sister for getting them into the dilemma. His sister was removed from view of what was to happen. John had already heard, "the third one always

gets it." Appellant clearly meant for John to suffer. He let him lie in agony, moaning after he had fractured his skull, until he was ready to slash his throat. After having done so, he made blithe references to the agonal noises, such as John was just, "having trouble with his dinner." Not only did he intend for John to suffer, he enjoyed it.

(B) The prior violent felony conviction was properly found where the appellant twice raped Pamela Edwards after handcuffing, threatening, robbing, and holding her captive. Unlike the case in *Terry v. State*, 668 So.2d 954 (Fla. 1996), where the contemporaneous conviction was committed by a codefendant, it was appellant who "subdued" John and forcibly returned him to where his sister was being held, tied and bound him, and forced him to lie on the ground, and then marched him to the site of the killing. The aggravator - that the felony murder was committed during the course of a kidnaping - was also properly applied. That the appellant found John's ability to overpower and wound Paul annoying is incidental to the fact that he lured the Edwards into the woods, away from help, on a bogus photo taking expedition, with the clear intent to take their property and vehicles. The pecuniary gain factor was properly applied.

(C) The trial court properly considered and rejected

unsupported mitigating evidence. The weight of the evidence did not support a finding that Cole had been abused as a child. It was within the province of the sentencing court to make credibility determinations and resolve any conflicts in the evidence. There was no evidence that the circumstances of Cole's childhood had any bearing on his adult behavior. Psychosis was offered in mitigation, and the appellant's expert testified that it was not the product of his background. The weight to be given to the appellant's mental illness was in the sentencing court's discretion and more weight was given than deserved where the appellant was dishonest on psychological tests, so that his mental health expert could not determine the degree of his illness. The influence of such illness could not even be connected to the events leading up to the murder. Cole perpetrated the murder himself, without aid or counsel from his wounded codefendant. A finding of disparate treatment of the codefendant is hardly mandated by the incongruous theory that this mitigator should always be found, but its weight diminished with equal or greater participation. Cole's behavior at trial was not argued as mitigation below. No evidence was presented that Cole was abusing drugs at the time of the murder.

V. The trial court did not err in denying the appellant's

motion for mistrial based on a witness' slip that she "knew some history on K.C." The defense should have accepted an offered curative instruction. The remark did not specifically reference a prior conviction, or even criminal activity, and was not so prejudicial as to require reversal.

VI. The general state of mind of the inhabitants of the community was not so infected by knowledge of the incident and accompanying prejudice, bias, and preconceived opinions that jurors could not possibly put these matters out of their minds and try the case solely upon the evidence presented in the courtroom. The trial court did not err in failing to grant a change of venue.

VII. The trial court properly admitted relevant photographs of the victim into evidence. Some photos reflected the body as it was found. Other photos, introduced during the testimony of the medical examiner, were not duplicative, were relevant, and assisted her in demonstrating the nature of the wounds and the manner of death.

VIII. Appellant's motion to suppress was properly denied. Based upon the detailed description of the suspects and their close proximity to the site from which the deceased victim's car was recovered, law enforcement had probable cause to arrest Cole. Because the arrest was based on probable cause, the physical

evidence seized as a result of that arrest was properly admitted into evidence.

IX. The trial court did not err in admitting into evidence the oak walking stick used as a weapon by Paul against the murder victim. Pamela Edwards could match the attributes on the State's exhibit with the attributes of the stick she had seen Paul carry. There is no likelihood that a jury would not be satisfied that it was the same stick.

X. The trial court properly refused to instruct the jury on "independent acts" and "theft as an afterthought" where there was no evidence of same. Appropriate standard penalty phase instructions were given.

XI. The trial court properly permitted the state to proceed under both premeditation and felony murder theories. The decision to kill John Edwards was a conscious, premeditated one. If there was error in instructing the jury on both theories, it was harmless.

XII. The trial court did not err in entering a restitution order which included travel expenses for the parents of the murdered victim. Appellant has not demonstrated that he had no notice of the court's intent to impose restitution. The issue is not preserved because no objection was made below. In any event,

ability to pay is properly considered at the time of enforcement, not imposition. Further, the murder victim's parents are "victims" within the purview of the restitution statute. Travel expenses of a victim are properly awarded as restitution. Finally, amounts set-out in a PSI are sufficient support for a restitution order.

XIII. The twenty-five year minimum mandatory provisions appearing on Appellant's written sentences for his first degree and life felonies appears improper.

XIV. Appellant's shotgun blast at Florida's death penalty statute has been deflected in numerous previous skirmishes embodied in the various opinions of this Honorable Court and cited at length in the argument.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING A PORTION OF WITNESS PAMELA EDWARDS' TESTIMONY TO BE READ BACK TO THE JURY.

A trial court has wide latitude in deciding whether to have testimony re-read to jurors upon request. *Coleman v. State*, 610 So.2d 1283, 1286 (Fla. 1992); *Kelley v. State*, 486 So.2d 578 (Fla.

1986); Fla. R. Cr. P. 3.410; *DeCastro v. State*, 360 So.2d 474 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978). Under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.410, it is within the trial court's ultimate discretion whether to have the court reporter read back the testimony of a witness. *DeCastro v. State*, 360 So.2d 474 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978); *Simmons v. State*, 334 So.2d 265, 267 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976). Discretion is abused only when the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable - only where no reasonable man would take the view adopted by the trial court. *Matire v. State*, 232 So.2d 209, 211 (Fla. 4th DCA 1970).

There was no abuse of discretion in the instant case. The portions of the testimony read to the jury were directly related and responsive to the jury's interrogatory. The testimony re-read was not misleading and did not place undue emphasis on any particular statements. See *Garcia v. State*, 644 So.2d 59 (Fla. 1994); *Haliburton v. State*, 561 So.2d 248, 250 (Fla. 1990). [Regarding the complaint about cross-examination, there simply was none concerning Cole's statement that John, whose throat he had just slashed, was "having trouble with his dinner."]

Defense counsel objected and wanted the *whole* trial "scenario" re-read to the jury (R 1580). However, after the lower court had the transcript read exactly where requested by the jury, counsel below never objected nor asked that any portions of

cross-examination be re-read. Thus, any error in this regard is waived for lack of a contemporaneous objection. *Steinhorst v. State*, 412 So.2d 332, 339 (Fla. 1982).

II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN CONDUCTING PORTIONS OF THE TRIAL IN THE ABSENCE OF THE APPELLANT.

This claim is procedurally barred for lack of an objection or request to be present during trial. *Wright v. State*, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S498 (Fla. Nov. 21 1996). Relief would not be warranted in any event.

On February 24, 1995, a hearing on Cole's motion for continuance and to sever was held (R 327-56). The defendants were not present because no one had asked that they be transported. The State expressed concern about hearing the motion to sever without either of the defendants present (R 329). Counsel for Defendant William Paul informed the court that he was ready to go forward with the motion in that his client had made it emphatically clear to him that he desired a severance. Mr. Gleason, Cole's attorney, agreed and represented that his client had also made such desire abundantly clear to him (R 330). Paul's attorney told the court that it would be deciding the issue as a matter of law, and there would be no need for testimony. He assured the court that at a later time his client would come in and specify on the record that

this was what he wanted. He indicated that he had given his client his professional opinion regarding the advantages and disadvantages of a severance, and his client indicated that he wished to have one. Mr. Gleason indicated likewise and said that Cole had told him that he wanted a severance (R 331). Cole's motion for continuance was granted (R 347). The judge asked counsel to leave their cases for him to read. He said he would hear oral argument on the severance when the clients were present (R 350).

A hearing was scheduled for argument the next Wednesday. Mr. Holloman was to do an order for transport (R 354-55). On March 1, 1995, the hearing on the motion to sever continued (R 357-81). The record does not reflect whether the defendants were or were not present. The court found that the motion was *premature* and did not entertain it because the hearing revealed that the potential problems with trying the two defendants at the same time had disappeared. The court took the motion under advisement until closer to trial (R 376).

On May 17, 1995, a status conference was held. Cole was *present* (R 17). The prosecutor withdrew his objections to the motion to sever, and the motion was entertained and granted (R 15, 18). Thus, it is not true that the motion to sever was entertained and decided Cole's absence.

Moreover, even if it could be concluded that Cole's motion was partially entertained in his absence the claim still fails. The question of whether a severance is appropriate is one of law for the court to decide, and the input of the defendant is not necessary. Counsel also said that the defendants would ratify their actions in seeking a severance on the record. The motion was successfully argued on May 17, 1995 in Cole's presence.

A defendant's subsequent acquiescence in matters conducted during his absence by his attorney will be construed as a waiver of his right to be present at proceedings before the court. *Henzel v. State*, 212 So.2d 92 (Fla. 3d DCA 1968). As far as the granting of a continuance in appellant's absence at the February 24, 1995 hearing is concerned, it is clear that only technical, procedural, or legal issues were discussed, and Cole's presence would not have assisted the defense in any way. Moreover his motion was favorably ruled upon. Any error was harmless. *Coney v. State*, 653 So.2d 1009, 1013 (Fla. 1995).

Appellant further complains that he was excluded from a hearing "within" a hearing on the same day, May 17, 1995. Counsel for Paul had some concerns for his client's safety (R 30). He wanted Paul to be moved to another jail based on correspondence from Cole to the effect that if he could get his hands on Paul he

would do something (R 31). Counsel indicated that he could not swear that such a thing would happen, but was being prudent (R 32). The court granted the request (R 33). Cole's lawyer was present at this conference (R 30). Cole omits that, at the time of this conference, the cases had been severed -- he had no right to be present anyway. As Cole acknowledges, the discussion of Cole's previously filed *pro se* motion to disqualify his attorney was not of any significance since Paul's lawyer simply wanted to clear up a joking reference made at the prior hearing concerning his membership in subversive vigilante groups (R 34).

Cole further complains that the record does not reflect his presence at a June 9, 1995 hearing on his motion to continue. He adds that he was apparently not present at numerous status conferences, since in his *pro se* motion to dismiss counsel, he cites defense counsel's failure to arrange his presence at status conference hearings (R 208). It is apparent from the transcript of the May 17, 1995 hearing, at which he was clearly present, that Cole is not identified specifically in transcripts as being present or absent. Cole's alleged absence from the June 9, 1995 hearing appears to be speculation based on the fact that he was not present at the February 24, 1995 hearing on a motion for continuance. In any event, Cole had no right to be present at a pretrial conference

which dealt with legal and administrative matters not needing his input or influence. *Junco v. State*, 510 So.2d 909 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987). Cole's absence at such a non-critical stage did not frustrate the fairness of the proceeding. See generally *Hardwick v. Dugger*, 648 So.2d 100 (Fla. 1994); *Wright v. State*, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S498, S499 (Fla. Nov. 21, 1996). Any possible violation of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.180 was harmless error since Cole's presence would not have aided defense counsel in arguing the motion. *Coney v. State*, 653 So.2d 1009 (Fla. 1995); *Garcia v. State*, 492 So.2d 360 (Fla. 1986). Cole does not identify the status conferences he claims he was not present for, and does not identify matters as to which, if present, he could have assisted counsel in arguing. Since a status conference is a non-critical stage of trial, no error has been shown, much less harmful error. *Stano v. State*, 473 So.2d 1282 (Fla. 1985); *Garcia, supra*.

Cole next complains of his absence at various bench

conferences. He was present in the courtroom.¹ Fundamental fairness was not thwarted by any absence from bench conferences at which purely legal or evidentiary matters were discussed where Cole could have provided no assistance. *Garcia, Wright, supra.*

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